THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SEP 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Judge

Case No. 2014-002733

Samuel Washington, Jr.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Electric and Gas Company; and Emerson Electric Company d/b/a
Emerson Network Power, and/or Emerson Network Power, Defendants,

Of Whom South Carolina Electric and Gas Company.....Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

John A. Massalon, Esquire SC Bar #010279
I. Ryan Neville, Esquire SC Bar # 76513
WILLS MASSALON & ALLEN LLC
Post Office Box 859
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 727-1144
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in not finding Appellant immune from suit under the statutory employer doctrine, when the court below should have construed all factual doubts in favor of such a finding, and when the facts show Respondent was an electrician, working at Appellant's electrical plant, on an electrical panel that controlled Appellant's generator used by Appellant to generate electricity that is vital to its business.
2. Alternatively, did the trial court err in finding that Respondent was not a statutory employee while at the same time finding genuine issues of material facts as to that defense which should be decided at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 2013, Respondent Samuel Washington ("Mr. Washington") filed this lawsuit against Appellant South Carolina Electric and Gas ("SCE&G") and Emerson Electric Company d/b/a Emerson Network Power, and/or Emerson Network Power ("Emerson") alleging that SCE&G's and Emmerson's negligence caused him injuries from an electric shock. (R. pp. 19-24). Emerson removed the case to the United States District Court, but it was subsequently remanded to the Colleton County Court of Common Pleas. Thereafter, SCE&G filed its Answer on November 6, 2013. (R. pp. 25-29). In its Answer, SCE&G denied the claims and asserted various affirmative defenses including the statutory employer defense. *Id.* SCE&G filed for summary judgment on November 6, 2013 based on the statutory employer defense. (R. pp. 30-43).

On February 6, 2014, the Court issued an Order Continuing the Motion for Summary Judgment until the Parties could conduct discovery on the limited issues raised

in SCE&G's summary judgment motion. (R. p. 3). Thereafter, the Parties conducted discovery on this issue and filed supplemental memoranda on the same. (R. pp. 119-157; R. pp. 158-196; R. pp. 197-243; R. pp. 244-288; R. pp. 308-315; R. pp. 316-321; R. pp. 44-48). On September 4, 2014 the Parties appeared again before the same trial judge for a hearing on SCE&G's previously continued Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 3; R. pp. 4-18).

On October 28, 2014, Judge Kinard signed an Order denying SCE&G's Motion for Summary Judgment, which SCE&G received electronically on November 20, 2014. (R. pp. 4-18). On December 19, 2014, SCE&G filed and served its Notice of Appeal to this Court. (R. pp. 103-106). The Motion for Summary Judgment was directed solely at SCE&G's immunity under the statutory employer doctrine, and so the issues of liability, causation, and damages, if any, have yet to be decided.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

SCE&G is in the business of providing electricity to customers in the State of South Carolina. (R. p. 150, line 14-p. 151, line 17; R. p. 188, line 7-p. 189, line 16; R. p. 231, line 22-p. 232, line 9; R. p. 236, line 2-p. 238, line 17; R. p. 283, line 10-p. 284, line 18). During the fall of 2011, as part of its maintenance, SCE&G began the process of updating one of its turbines at its power plant in Canadys, South Carolina. Id. SCE&G contracted with Emerson to manage this work, and in turn, Emerson contracted with Applied Control Technology. Id. Mr. Washington was employed by Applied Control Technology and assigned by the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers to perform some of this work. (R. pp. 19-24).

Mr. Washington alleges that he was injured while performing electrical work on a turbine that powers the generator SCE&G utilizes to produce electricity. Id. All witnesses testified that SCE&G is in the business of producing power, that the work Mr. Washington was performing was an important part of SCE&G's business, and that the work was necessary, essential, and integral to SCE&G's business of producing power. (R. p. 150, line 14-p. 151, line 17; R. p. 188, line 7-p. 189, line 16; R. p. 231, line 22-p. 232, line 9; R. p. 236, line 2-p. 238, line 17; R. p. 283, line 10-p. 284, line 18). Additionally, SCE&G's electrical and instrumentation technician testified that SCE&G maintains the equipment that Mr. Washington was working on a routine basis, and that he had worked on it several times in the past. (R. p. 129:20-24). SCE&G witnesses also testified that SCE&G could have performed the work itself but chose to contract out the work, and that in contracting out the work, SCE&G ultimately bore the costs of Mr. Washington's workers' compensation coverage in what it paid for the work to be done at its plant. (R. p. 150, line 14-p. 151, line 17; R. p. 188, line 7-p. 189, line 16; R. p. 231, line 22-p. 232, line 9; R. p. 236, line 2-p. 238, line 17; R. p. 283, line 10-p. 284, line 18). In fact, SCE&G's procurement manager for the work at issue in this case testified in his deposition that SCE&G has previously performed the exact same work as it contracted with Emerson in the instant case at a different plant. (R. p. 216, line 6-p. 217, line 12; R. p. 239, line 19-p. 241, line 14).

With regard to its procurement of insurance, SCE&G is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SCANA Corporation and is the principal subsidiary for SCANA. (R. pp. 107-118). SCANA provides payment of workers' compensation insurance for SCE&G, and has been approved as "self-insured" by the South Carolina Worker's Compensation

Commission, since June 18, 1949. Id. SCE&G provided a valid employer's workers' compensation insurance coverage verification that indicates coverage was in effect on the date of the incident that gives rise to this action. Id. In addition to its approved self-insured status, SCANA, on behalf of SCE&G and certain other subsidiaries, additionally procured two excess worker's compensation policies of insurance coverage that were in effect on the date of the accident that would have provided coverage for any contract employees of SCE&G, had their direct employer, for any reason, not provided adequate coverage. Id.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of the employer-employee relationship for workers' compensation purposes is jurisdictional. Glass v. Dow Chem. Co., 447 S.E.2d 209 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994). The issue of whether an injured workers' claim is subject to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act ("the Act") S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-10 *et. seq.* is a matter of law for court including finding of facts that relate to jurisdiction. Adams v. Davison-Paxon Co., 230 S.C. 532, 535 (S.C. 1957). Consequently, on appeal this Court has the power and duty to review the entire record and decide the jurisdictional facts in accord with the preponderance of the evidence. Glass, 447 S.E.2d 209 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994). Each case must be determined on its own facts. Id. In making such a determination, courts must resolve all doubts about whether a worker is a statutory employee in favor of including the worker under the jurisdictional reach of the Act. Neese v. Michelin Tire Corp., 478 S.E.2d 91 (S.C. Ct. App. 1996).

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in not finding Appellant immune from suit under the statutory employer doctrine, when the court below should have construed all**

factual doubts in favor of such a finding, and when the facts show Respondent was an electrician, working at Appellant's electrical plant, on an electrical panel that controlled Appellant's generator used by Appellant to generate electricity that is vital to its business.

The Act provides the exclusive remedy for employees who sustain work related injuries. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540. Although coverage under the Act is generally dependent upon the existence of an employer-employee relationship, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-400 provides that the Act is also the sole remedy for a worker who is not directly employed by the owner but rather is employed by a person or entity that is performing work for the owner. McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co., 313 S.E.2d 38 (S.C. Ct. App.1984). The rationale for this statutory provision is that costs incurred by the person or entity securing workers' compensation insurance coverage is ultimately borne by the owner as part of the contract costs regardless of whether the contract explicitly states it. See Parker v. Williams & Madjanik, Inc., 267 S.E.2d 524 (S.C. 1980) (noting "[t]he owner who obtains the benefit of the work inevitably absorbs the costs of providing protection for the workers"). Courts must resolve all doubts about whether a worker is a statutory employee in favor of including the worker under the Act since the essential purpose of the Act is the inclusion of employers and employees. Adams, 96 S.E.2d 566 (S.C. 1957); Neese, 478 S.E.2d 91 (S.C. Ct. App.1996).

Only one of the following three conditions must be satisfied for the Act to apply: the activity performed by the injured worker (1) must be an important part of the owner's trade or business; (2) must be a necessary, essential, and integral part of the owner's business; or (3) the owner's employees must have previously performed the activity. Harrell v. Pineland Plantation, Ltd., 494 SE 2d 123 (S.C. Ct. App 1997). The three-part disjunctive Harrell inquiry focuses on the services performed by the subcontractor.

Carter v. Florentine Corp., 423 S.E.2d 112 (S.C. 1992). Importantly, again, only 1 of the 3 Harrell elements need be present to defeat a claim per the statutory employer doctrine. Glass, 447 S.E.2d 209 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994).

The issue becomes whether the work in which a plaintiff was engaged in was a part of the trade, business, or occupation of the Owner. Marchbanks v. Duke Power Co., 2 S.E.2d 825 (S.C.1939). The Act recognizes that work done at the behest of the owner is owner's work. MacMullen v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co., 312 F.2d 662 (4th Cir. S.C.1963). Where the work is the sort that the employer is equipped to handle with its own work force, the work is part of the business. Glass, 482 S.E.2d 49 (1997). Courts also consider whether a particular skill or special equipment is necessary for the work in question. Marchbanks, 2 S.E.2d 825 (S.C. 1939).

The case of Bell v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co., 109 S.E.2d 441 (S.C. 1959) is most instructive on the issues before the Court. In Bell, the Court sustained SCE&G's demurrer to the Plaintiff's negligence complaint. The Bell Court held as a matter of law that the power company was the deceased workman's statutory employer because Plaintiff's intestate was killed while employed by a contractor who was transferring lines of the power company from one set of poles to another. Id. The Bell court stated, "[t]he defendant Power Company is a public utility engaged in the manufacture and transmission of electricity and uses poles and wires in its business and the repair and maintenance of such poles and wires or the transferring of such from one set of poles to another are part of its business, trade and occupation." Compare Id. with R. pp. 19-24 ¶ 5 (making very similar allegation as noted in Bell).

In the case at bar, there is no dispute SCE&G is in the business of producing and selling power. (R. p. 150, line 14-p. 151, line 17; R. p. 188, line 7-p. 189, line 16; R. p. 231, line 22-p. 232, line 9; R. p. 236, line 2-p. 238, line 17; R. p. 283, line 10-p. 284, line 18). The location where Mr. Washington was injured was a power plant SCE&G utilizes to generate electricity it then provides to its customers. Id. The equipment Mr. Washington was working on when he was injured is a turbine that powers the generator SCE&G utilizes to produce the electricity it then provides to its customers. Id.

Like in Bell, Mr. Washington was performing work (the maintenance/updating of a turbine) that was an important, necessary, essential, and integral part of SCE&G's business of providing power to customers in the State of South Carolina. Id. SCE&G's own electrical and instrumentation technician testified that SCE&G maintains the equipment that Mr. Washington was working on a routine basis, and that he had worked on it several times in the past. (R. p. 129, lines 20-24). SCE&G witnesses also testified that SCE&G could have performed the work itself but chose to contract out the work, and that in contracting out the work, SCE&G ultimately bore the costs of Mr. Washington's workers' compensation coverage in what it paid for the work to be done at its plant. (R. p. 150, line 14-p. 151, line 17; R. p. 188, line 7-p. 189, line 16; R. p. 231, line 22-p. 232, line 9; R. p. 236, line 2-p. 238, line 17; R. p. 283, line 10-p. 284, line 18). Finally, SCE&G's procurement manager for the work at issue in this case testified in his deposition that SCE&G has previously performed the exact same work as it contracted with Emerson in the instant case at a different plant. (R. p. 216, line 6-p. 217, line 12; R. p. 239, line 19-p. 241, line 14).

The trial court's reliance on Glass and Raines v. Gould 343 SE2d 655 (S.C. Ct.

App. 1986) is misplaced. In those cases, the plaintiffs were performing construction work that was not a critical part of the defendants' the trade, business, or occupation (a chemical company in Glass and a battery company in Raines). Id. This is quite to the contrary in the case at bar where Mr. Washington is an electrician, working on SCE&G's electrical panel, on SCE&G's turbine, which produces electricity, that SCE&G is in the business of selling to its customers.

The statutory employee doctrine is applicable to this case, and therefore, SCE&G should be immune from Respondent's claims. The facts are undisputed that the maintenance/updating of SCE&G's turbine was an important part of its work, that it was an essential part of its trade or business, and that such maintenance work was performed by defendant's regular employees. (R. p. 150, line 14-p. 151, line 17; R. p. 188, line 7-p. 189, line 16; R. p. 216, line 6-p. 217, line 12; R. p. 231, line 22-p. 232, line 9; R. p. 236, line 2-p. 238, line 17; R. p. 239, lines 19-241; R. p. 283, line 10-p. 284, line 18). The updating of these turbines was a part of SCE&G's necessary maintenance work. Id. In connection with said work, it was necessary to work on the electrical panel where Mr. Washington was working at the time of his accident, which had previously been performed by SCE&G's regular employees. Id.

Mr. Washington's sole relief is through the Act. SCE&G should be granted summary judgment in its favor as to Respondent's claim for negligence against it. Therefore, SCE&G is entitled to an Order reversing the denial of summary judgment, and additionally, is entitled to an Order from this Court granting it summary judgment pursuant to the Statutory Employer Doctrine.

II. Alternatively, the trial court erred in finding that Respondent was not a statutory employee while at the same time finding genuine issues of material

facts as to that defense which should be decided at trial.

Summary judgment is appropriate where “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Belton v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 602 S.E. 2d 389 (S.C. 2004). While the moving party bears the burden of demonstrating that there is not a genuine issue of material fact, once that burden has been met, the nonmoving party may not rest on the mere allegations contained in the pleadings. Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 582 S.E.2d 432 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003). Instead, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing that evidence exists to support its position, and that there is a genuine issue for trial. SSI Medical Services, Inc. v. Cox, 392 S.E. 2d 789 (S.C. 1990). All evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Strother v. Lexington County Recreation, 504 S.E. 2d 117 (S.C. 1998). In cases where there are no issues of material fact, a trial court may resolve disputed legal questions on summary judgment. Ellis v. Davidson, 595 S.E. 2d 817 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004). If not, the decision should only be made after trial. Id.

In the case at bar, Respondent did not file a motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 30-43). The trial court was not deciding cross motions for summary judgment on the issue of whether Mr. Washington was SCE&G’s statutory employee. Id. Rather, it was only deciding whether to grant or deny SCE&G’s motion. Id.

Nonetheless, in several instances the trial court’s order appears to apply the summary judgment standard to reach the substantive conclusion that Respondent was not a statutory employee of SCE&G. For example, the order denying summary judgment

states in part, “[w]hen viewed in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff, an application of the facts of this case to the above-referenced tests reveal that Plaintiff was not a statutory employee.” Later, the order states “[a]s a result, the exclusivity provision of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540 does not apply, and Defendant SCE&G’s Motion for Summary Judgment is hereby DENIED.” If the trial court’s intent was merely to deny summary judgment on the statutory employment issue because disputed issues of fact were presented about Respondent’s status, then it was an error for the court below to conclude definitively that Respondent was not a statutory employee of SCE&G. Conversely, if the trial court intended to reach a substantive conclusion about Respondent’s status as a statutory employee, then the incorrect standard was applied when the evidence was analyzed.

Again, this Court should reverse the trial court’s decision and grant SCE&G summary judgment. If, however, this Court is not inclined to do so, it should recognize that the trial court erred in concluding that Respondent was not a statutory employee of SCE&G and allow that issue to proceed to trial.