RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

SEP 25 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002733

Samuel Washington, Jr., ..... Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Electric and Gas Company; and  
Emerson Electric Company d/b/a Emerson Network Power,  
and/or Emerson Network Power, Defendants,

Of Whom South Carolina Electric and Gas Company ..... Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Charles T. Slaughter, Esquire  
S. Kirkpatrick Morgan, Jr., Esquire  
WALKER MORGAN, LLC  
135 East Main Street  
Post Office Box 949 (29071)

## COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying SCE&G's Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the Respondent was, as a matter of law, not a statutory employee of SCE&G, when the preponderance of the evidence shows that: (a) the Respondent was performing major and specialized demolition/repair work, which was outside of the trade or business of SCE&G; (b) the demolition/repair work the Respondent was performing was not an "important" nor a "necessary, essential, and integral" part of SCE&G's business of providing electricity to customers; and (c) the specific demolition/repair work being performed by the Respondent had never been performed by SCE&G employees.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR, Respondent concurs with the procedural State of the Case set forth by Appellant South Carolina Electric and Gas (hereinafter "SCE&G" or "Appellant") in its Final Brief, pp. 1-2.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In September 2008, SCE&G entered into a master agreement with Emerson Electric Company d/b/a Emerson Network Power and/or Emerson Network Power ("Emerson"). (R. pp. 330 – 341). As part of that agreement, SCE&G contracted with Emerson to provide electrical equipment and services relating to the upgrade of Turbine No. 3 at SCE&G's Canadys Station power plant located in Colleton County, South Carolina ("Canadys"). (R. pp. 342 – 344). In turn, Emerson subcontracted with Applied Control Technology, Inc. ("ACT") for the provision of, among other things, all labor, supervision, materials and tools necessary to perform the demolition/installation work on Turbine No. 3. (R. p. 345); (R. pp. 366 – 387); (R. pp. 388 – 422).

Respondent Samuel Washington, an electrician, was hired by ACT through the local chapter of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and, on September 28, 2011, was assigned to demo/remove old electrical wires from an electrical panel box

located on the valve that controlled Turbine No.3. (R. p. 21, ¶10); (R. p. 129, line 25-p. 130, line 15). As Mr. Washington began removing the wires from the panel box, which he had been told were de-energized, he received a high-voltage electric shock. (R. p. 21, ¶10). As a result of the contact with SCE&G's energized wire(s) and the severity of the shock he received as the electric current passed through his body, the Plaintiff suffered serious and permanent injuries and damages. (R. p. 21, ¶14).

As a result of this incident, the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, Office of Occupational Safety and Health ("S.C. OSHA") opened an investigation and, on December 20, 2011, cited SCE&G for two (2) serious violations of the Occupational Safety and Health Regulations of the State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 322 – 329).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying SCE&G's Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the Respondent Was, as a Matter of Law, Not a Statutory Employee of SCE&G.**

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court correctly found the exclusivity provisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act inapplicable to this action. South Carolina courts have long recognized that no easily applied formula can be laid down for the determination of whether an individual is a statutory employee in a given case and, as such, "each case must be decided on its own facts." *Ost v. Integrated Prods., Inc.*, 296 S.C. 241, 244, 371 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1988).

To qualify as a statutory employee under the Workers' Compensation Act, an individual must be engaged in an activity that "is a part of [the employer's] trade, business or occupation." S.C.Code Ann. § 42-1-400. "A particular activity is part of the

putative employer's 'trade, business or occupation if it (1) is an important part of the employer's business or trade; (2) is a necessary, essential, and integral part of the employer's business; or (3) has previously been performed by the employer's employees.'" *Cooke v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 367 S.C. 167, 173, 624 S.E.2d 439, 442 (Ct.App. 2005) (citations omitted); *see also Hopkins v. Darlington Veneer Co.*, 208 S.C. 307, 311, 38 S.E.2d 4, 6 (1946)("[T]he guidepost is whether or not that which is being done is or is not a part of the general trade, business or occupation of the owner.").

As set forth more fully below, the preponderance of the evidence supports the trial court's finding that the demolition/repair work that the Respondent was performing at the time of the subject incident was not a part of SCE&G's business or trade. As such, the Court should affirm Judge Kinard's ruling that the Respondent was not a statutory employee of SCE&G.

***A. Major, Specialized Repairs are Not Part of SCE&G's Trade or Business.***

While precedent states it is "difficult to lay down any hard and fast rule" in statutory employment cases, one rule the South Carolina Supreme Court has established is that, "where repairs are major, specialized, *or* of the sort which the employer is not equipped to handle with its own work force, they are not part of the business." *Glass v. Dow Chemical Co.*, 325 S.C. 198, 201, 482 S.E.2d 49, 50-51 (1997) (emphasis added); *see also Raines v. Gould*, 288 S.C. 541, 543, 343 S.E.2d 655, 657 (Ct. App. 1986) ("Ordinarily construction work, such as building a factory structure or making electrical installations, is considered outside the trade or business of a manufacturer.").

At the time of his injuries, the Respondent was one of several ACT employees performing demolition work as part of a major repair/upgrade project on SCE&G's

Canadys Turbine No.3. SCE&G employees have testified that the work the Respondent was performing was “major” and “specialized” repair work:

Q. Okay. Stepping back a little bit, it's my understanding that during that time, in that September 2011 range, there was a project going on at the Canadys Station plant; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. What's your understanding as to the reason behind that? Like what was going on?

A. We were doing an upgrade on our DCS system as well as control valves that control the steam going to the turbine which we use to turn the generator to generate the power. **It was a major, major upgrade changing the valves out and controls and pulling new wire in, replacing wire.**

Q. So this wasn't just a routine maintenance thing, it was a major repair?

A. Major, yes.

(R. p. 168, line 23-p. 169, line 13) (emphasis added).

Q. You've already agreed that this was a major project in the eyes of SCE&G, a major work project?

A. **Major work project.**

Q. All right. And would you agree that upgrading a control system is specialized work?

A. **It is specialized in that, yes, it is specialized.**

(R. p. 239, lines 4 – 11) (emphasis added).

In contrast to specialized repair work, routine maintenance work can sometimes be covered by the statutory employment doctrine. For example, in *Wheeler v. Morrison Machinery Co.*, 313 S.C. 440, 438 S.E2d 264 (1993), the court found the removal of asbestos was part of the defendant's routine “ongoing maintenance program” and therefore part of the defendant's “trade or business.” According to the court, “[p]reventive maintenance...has always been and always will be an ongoing process.”

*Wheeler*, 313 S.C. at 443, 438 S.E.2d at 266. However, the testimony in this case shows that the work being performed by the Respondent was not routine maintenance; instead it was a specialized repair. For instance, according to documents obtained from S.C. OSHA, the demolition/upgrade/repair work being performed by the Respondent and other contractors and subcontractors on the date of the subject incident generally only takes place every thirty (30) to forty (40) years. (R. p. 323). Moreover, SCE&G employees have testified that this was not routine maintenance and, in fact, this specific demolition/repair work had never been done before on the subject equipment:

Q. Okay. Do you have any knowledge as to whether any other SCE&G employees have ever done any type of work on that panel?

A. I'm sure some of the other electricians have worked on that panel. I know they have as far as the switches.

**Q. But as far as any sort of demo or pulling out wires or replacing the panel itself.**

**A. Not that particular one, no.**

(R. p. 172, lines 10 – 18) (emphasis added).

**Q. The project and the work that was being done on Unit 3, this wouldn't be considered routine maintenance, would it?**

**A. No.**

Q. This is, again, a major overhaul or repair?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 190, line 23-p. 191, line 4) (emphasis added).

Q. Do you know if SCE&G has ever demolished, removed and upgraded that unit or units at Canadys at any time previous?

A. This particular unit?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. I would say no.

(R. p. 208, line 25-p. 209, line 5).

Q. All right. Would you agree that this was not routine maintenance that was going on at Canadys?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 216, lines 6 – 9).

Q. During your 13 years at SCE&G, were you ever assigned to work on this particular panel box?

A. I was.

Q. What kind of work would you be asked to do?

A. It had some limit switches inside the box. There was a shaft that came through the box for valve positioning and those switches occasionally would fail or get a little out of adjustment and then we would go in and make an adjustment.

Q. So would it be fair to call that routine maintenance?

A. Yeah.

**Q. But as far as removing, replacing the wires or actually removing, replacing the box itself, you were never asked to do that?**

**A. No, sir.**

(R. p. 134, line 24-p. 135, line 16) (emphasis added).

Q All right. All right. And are you aware -- it's our understanding that this is the first time these controls were being updated with state of the art equipment -- controls since the Canadys Plant had come on line 40, 50 years ago. Is that your understanding?

A Yes. As far as the full update, yes.

Q All right. **So there's no doubt that routine maintenance had ever done what Emerson was doing on this project?**

**A Correct.**

(R. p. 273, line 23-p. 274, line 7) (emphasis added); (R. p. 169, lines 11 – 13) (“Q. So this wasn't just a routine maintenance thing, it was a major repair? A. Major, yes.”).

Finally, a SCE&G employee has testified that this type of specialized work is typically done by independent contractors:

Q. During your time at SCE&G, was there ever a time when a project of this scale was undertaken at the Canadys plant?

A. Yeah. I mean, there was stuff like that -- I'm not exactly clear on what you're asking. Did the the company do it by itself or --

Q. As far as the six-week project that was going on during this time.

A. Oh, yeah. I mean, different -- there's different projects over the years. They'll do upgrades on different systems at different times.

**Q. And is that something usually, again, that -- is it something SCE&G would do themselves or would it be contracted out to --**

**A. Generally contracted out.**

(R. p. 129, lines 5 – 19) (emphasis added).

The above testimony of SCE&G's own employees establishes that the work the Respondent was performing was not routine maintenance, but rather, was a one-time major equipment replacement/upgrade of the kind that SCE&G regularly employs outside contractors to complete. Under *Glass*, such testimony precludes any ruling that the Respondent was a statutory employee of SCE&G.

***B. The Demolition/Repair Work Performed by the Plaintiff was not an "Important" nor a "Necessary, Essential, and Integral" Part of SCE&G's Business of Providing Electricity to Customers.***

SCE&G contends that because the equipment the Respondent was demolishing is used to power the generator SCE&G uses to produce electricity, such work should be considered an important, necessary, essential and integral part of SCE&G's business of providing electricity to customers.

However, if demolishing/upgrading this particular equipment was an important part of the business of producing and providing electricity, it would be expected to have been done in some form of routine or regular manner. That such work generally takes

place every 30-40 years and is done by outside contractors that have no role in the production or providing of electricity shows that the task is not an “important” part of the business of providing electricity to customers. As explained by Chief Judge Sanders in *Raines v. Gould, Inc.*:

Every manufacturer must have a plant, but this fact alone does not make the work of constructing a plant a part of the trade or business of every manufacturer who engages a contractor to construct a plant. Otherwise, the employees of every contractor so engaged would be the statutory employees of every such manufacturer.

288 S.C. at 547, 343 S.E.2d at 659.

Moreover, in *Dickerson v. Eastman Kodak Company*, 569 F. Supp. 1221 (D.S.C. 1983), the court addressed a situation where the contractor’s work was “necessary” and even “absolutely indispensable” for the defendant business to operate, but the court still found the work was still not part of the “trade or business” of the defendant if it is not work the direct employees would regularly perform. Quoting from Larson's Workmen's Compensation Law § 49.12 (1982), the court held:

From these cases it will be readily seen that the test is not one of whether the subcontractor's activity is useful, necessary, or even absolutely indispensable to the statutory employer's business, since, after all, this could be said of practically any repair, construction, or transportation service. **The test ... is whether this indispensable activity is, in that business, normally carried on through employees rather than independent contractors.**

*Id.* (Emphasis added). Under Professor Larson’s analysis, even assuming, *arguendo*, that SCE&G had to demolish/repair/upgrade the subject electrical panel box located on the valve that controlled Turbine No.3 at Canadys Station to be able to continue to power the generator SCE&G utilizes to generate electricity, that fact does not transform

Respondent's demolition work into part of the "trade or business" of "providing electricity to customers in South Carolina".

In *Abbot v. The Limited, Inc.*, 338 S.C. 161, 526 S.E.2d 513 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court used this same logical approach to hold that even though the transportation of goods was absolutely "essential" to the defendant's business, the subcontractor's employee was not a statutory employee because "[t]he mere fact that transportation of goods to one's place of business is essential for the conduct of the business does not mean that the transportation of the goods is a part or process of the business." *Abbott*, 338 S.C. at 163, 526 S.E.2d at 514. Chief Justice Toal in *Olmstead v. Shakespeare*, 354 S.C. 421, 426, 581 S.E.2d 483, 486 (2003) reiterated this point in holding:

[T]ransportation of goods is important to nearly all businesses, and, that transportation of goods by a common carrier alone, without something more, does not qualify as "part of [the owner's] trade, business, or occupation" under any of the three established tests for statutory employment.

Under our Supreme Court precedent, even though it may have been "absolutely essential," for SCE&G to demolish and replace the subject electrical panel box, that fact does not change SCE&G's entire *persona* as a provider of electricity into a demolition/construction company.

As such, the particular work performed by the Respondent in this case was neither an important part of SCE&G's business or trade, nor a necessary, essential, and integral part of SCE&G's business.

***C. The Specific Repair Work Being Performed by the Plaintiff Had Not Been Done by SCE&G Employees Before.***

The third and final factor considered in determining the statutory employment issue is whether or not “the **identical activity** performed by the subcontractor has been performed by employees of the owner.” *Voss v. Ramco, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 560, 569, 482 S.E.2d 582, 586 (1997) (emphasis added). As set forth above, on the date of the incident which forms the subject of this action, the Respondent was performing demolition work on an electrical panel box that mounted to a control valve. SCE&G employees have testified as follows regarding the subject panel box:

Q. It's my understanding, and I'll represent to you he's -- he will testify that that day he was assigned to remove some wires from a panel box. Are you familiar with the panel box?

A. I am.

Q. Was that panel box being replaced?

A. Yes, sir. It was completely going away.

Q. I assume they were upgrading it, putting a new one in?

A. Yes. It was attached to that large valve that was completely removed.

**Q. To your knowledge, had that panel box ever been replaced during your tenure?**

**A. Oh, no, sir. It was definitely 40 years old.**

(R. p. 129, line 25-p. 130, line 15) (emphasis added).

Q. At that time, can you give me a rough estimate of how many SCE&G employees were at the plant on a daily basis, how many people were employed there?

A. At the plant would've been around 50.

**Q. Among those 50, did SCE&G employ, at that time, anyone who would be responsible for doing any sort of demolition work?**

**A. No, sir.**

(R. p. 134, lines 3 – 11) (emphasis added).

Q. Okay. During that time, did you ever have occasion to work on the particular panel box involved in this case?

A. That particular one, maybe once or twice.

Q. What type of work would you have done on that panel box?

A. It might have been checking the switches in it to tell if the valves open and closes.

**Q. But nothing as far as demoing it or taking it apart or replacing it?**

**A. No.**

(R. p. 171, lines 12 – 24) (emphasis added).

Q. Okay. Do you have any knowledge as to whether any other SCE&G employees have ever done any type of work on that panel?

A. I'm sure some of the other electricians have worked on that panel. I know they have as far as the switches.

**Q. But as far as any sort of demo or pulling out wires or replacing the panel itself.**

**A. Not that particular one, no.**

(R. p. 172, lines 10 – 18) (emphasis added).

Q. Do you know if SCE&G has ever demolished, removed and upgraded that unit or units at Canadys at any time previous?

A. This particular unit?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. I would say no.

(R. p. 208, line 25-p. 209, line 5).

While the above-referenced testimony of the SCE&G employees establishes that they may have performed routine maintenance on the subject panel box in the past, none of the employees had ever, or knew of any other employees who had ever, performed the specific work that the Respondent was doing at the time of his injuries.

Thus, the preponderance of the evidence supports the trial court's determination that the Respondent was not a statutory employee of SCE&G.

**CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, as well as any other grounds appearing in the record, this Court should affirm the decision of the circuit court denying SCE&G's Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.").